

Cisco Unified Computing System Platform Emulator

Release Notes

February 2011, Version 1.4



Contents

Installation Instructions	3
Prerequisites	3
Cisco UCSPE Download	3
Starting the Virtual Machine	3
Starting the Virtual Machine for the First Time	3
Assigning a Static IP to Your Virtual Machine	5
Launching the Cisco UCS Manager GUI	
Launching the Cisco LICS Manager CL I	7
	8
Cisco UCS Manager	8
UCS Manager Home	8
Managed Object Browser	8
XML API Docs	9
API Schema and Samples	9
Hardware inventory	10
	10
Action tools	10
Lising the Stash Area	11
Emulator Settings	13
a Status Summary	13
b. Management IP	13
c. High Availability	13
d. Database Persistence	13
e. Startup Config URL	13
f. Fabric Interconnect	13
Restart	13
a. Restart Cisco UCSPE	13
b. Reboot the virtual machine	13
c. Shutdown the virtual machine	14
d. Reset the UCSM database	14
e. Factory Reset	14
Customer Support and User Community	14
Release Notes	14
Release Version	14
Form of Delivery	14
System Requirements	14
Limitations	14
Inherent Limitations of the Cisco UCS Emulated Environment	16
Limitations the of the Current UCSPE Release	16
Known Issues	17
Locator LED	17
Internet Explorer Support	17
VMPlayer's "Preserve Physical Connection State" checkbox	17
Save as XIVIL EXPORT IN UNROME Browser	17
Requests Liming Out	17
Firmware versions of manuware imported from Live UCS	/۱ ۲ ۲
Galaioy IIIIO 101 Gildssis FSO dilu Fall dilu Selver Dilviivis FEX and Rack-Mount Server Data is Static	1/ 17

Installation Instructions

Prerequisites

To unpack and run the Cisco Unified Computing System Platform Emulator (UCSPE) virtual machine and to start the Java GUI, you must first install the following software:

- VMware[™] Player from <u>www.VMware.com</u> (for other supported types of VMware products see Release Notes below)
- Sun JDK version 1.6 or later, from java.sun.com
- An unzip program*

Note: We used 7-Zip (<u>www.7-zip. org</u>) for archiving and validation.

Cisco UCSPE Download

Download and unzip the following file to your hard drive:

Cisco_UCS_Platform_Emulator_v1.4.67517.359904.zip

Note: The exact file name depends on the build number (the numbers that follow v.1.4), therefore the name of the actual file that is available for download at the present time may differ from the name provided above. The download link is provided on the same page from which you downloaded this document. When prompted by the browser, please select Save File and choose a location on your hard drive.

Opening Cisco_UCS_Platform_Emulator_v1.4.67517.35 🔀
You have chosen to open
Cisco_UCS_Platform_Emulator_v1.4.67517.359098.zip
which is a: ZIP file
from: http://developer.cisco.com
What should Firefox do with this file?
Open with Browse
Save File
Do this <u>a</u> utomatically for files like this from now on.
OK Cancel

This file is approximately 350 MB in size. Unzipping it creates a directory with the name UCSPE.

Starting the Virtual Machine

After the UCSPE/ directory is unzipped, double-click the file UCSPE/UCSPE.vmx to start the virtual machine (on Mac or Windows; or, if you are in Linux, type vmplayer UCSPE.vmx in the command prompt).

Starting the Virtual Machine for the First Time

By default, the VM is configured to use the local DHCP network to obtain its IP address. If your local network does not support DHCP, you may choose to change the networking setting of your Cisco UCS

Platform Emulator virtual machine from the default NAT mode to Host Only mode. After you change the networking settings, you must reboot the VM for the settings to take effect.

Note: The first time the virtual machine starts, it will perform a one-time installation process. Please allow the installation to finish before rebooting the virtual machine.

After the initial installation completes, the virtual machine console will display a login prompt similar to the following:

```
Cisco UCS UI: http://10.193.1.245
Cisco Unified Computing System Manager v1.4(1h)
Cisco UCS Platform Emulator v1.4(67517.359904)
For internal use by developers only, with no right to modify or distribute.
(c) 2005-2010 Cisco Systems, Inc. All rights reserved.
THE USCPE IS PROVIDED AS IS, WITHOUT ANY WARRANTIES OR REPRESENTATIONS
EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, WARRANTIES OF
QUALITY, PERFORMANCE, NONINFRINGEMENT, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS
FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE
Available logins:
user 'config', password 'config' (console only) - UCSPE configuration;
user 'cliuser', password 'cliuser' (console & SSH) - UCS CLI client.
cisco-ucspe login: _
```

The management IP address is indicated in the top line of the console. If the IP address was assigned by a DHCP server, it will tend to persist across VM reboots (however, this depends on the configuration of the DHCP server in your local network). If there is no DHCP server on your network, please see the "Assigning a Static IP to Your VM" section below.

Assigning a Static IP to Your Virtual Machine

Login as user 'config' to see the following menu.

```
Cisco Unified Computing System's Platform Emulator

IP Address: 10.193.1.245

Cisco UCS GUI: http://10.193.1.245

Please use the GUI to configure all other Emulator settings

Menu:

(a) View & Configure Network Settings

(b) Restart UCSPE with existing settings

(c) Restart UCSPE & Force DB Reset

(i) Factory Reset

(j) Reboot

(k) Shutdowm

(x) Exit This Menu

Select: _
```

Select option (a) to change the network settings to use a statically-assigned IP address:

Follow the prompts to answer:

Change settings? y

Use DHCP? n

Enter the desired IP address, netmask and default gateway into the prompts that follow. After you enter the default gateway, the network interface will reinitialize with your settings, and the system will become accessible via the new IP address. If you would like to cancel your entry and return to the menu, press Ctrl+C.

Launching the Cisco UCS Manager GUI

After the VM startup completes, point your browser to the Cisco UCS UI address displayed on the VM console. The Cisco UCS Manager introductory HTML page displays. Click the LAUNCH link to start the UCS Manager Java GUI download and launch.



The Cisco UCS Manager GUI Login window will appear. You can simply press "Login" without entering a username or a password. This is because in the emulation mode, user authentication is turned off.

Launching the Cisco UCS Manager CLI

The Cisco UCSPE virtual machine supports a single CLI session. To access the CLI prompt, in the virtual machine console (or SSH) login as user "cliuser" with password "cliuser".

Available logins: user 'config', password 'config' (console only) - UCSPE configuration; user 'cliuser', password 'cliuser' (console & SSH) - UCS CLI client. cisco-ucspe login: cliuser Password: Last login: Mon Jan 24 22:08:24 on tty1 Cisco Nexus Operating System (NX-OS) Software TAC support: http://www.cisco.com/tac Copyright (c) 2002-2010, Cisco Systems, Inc. All rights reserved. The copyrights to certain works contained in this software are owned by other third parties and used and distributed under license. Certain components of this software are licensed under the GNU General Public License (GPL) version 2.0 or the GNU Lesser General Public License (LGPL) Version 2.1. A copy of each such license is available at http://www.opensource.org/licenses/gpl-2.0.php and http://www.opensource.org/licenses/lgpl-2.1.php cisco-ucspe# show chassis inventory Chassis PID Vendor Serial (SN) HW Revision 1 N20-C6508 Cisco Systems Inc 89 Й cisco-ucspe# _

Cisco UCSPE Control Panel Menu

Cisco UCS Manager

UCS Manager Home

Displays the front web page of the UCSM. The LAUNCH link allows to launch the UCSM GUI (Java).

Managed Object Browser

UCSM Visore				(c) 2006-2009 Cisco Systems, Inc.	
			Filter		
Class or DN:	equipmentChassi	s			
Property:		Op: ==	💌 Val1:	Val2:	
Run Query					
Display XML	of last query				
<configre< td=""><td>solveClass co</td><td>okie="null"</td><td>inHierarchical="false'</td><td>' classId="equipmentChass</td><td>sis"/></td></configre<>	solveClass co	okie="null"	inHierarchical="false'	' classId="equipmentChass	sis"/>

Total objects shown: 1

<u>equipmentChassis</u>			
ackProgressIndicator	ack-not-in-progress		
adminState	acknowledged		
configState	ok		
connPath	A,B		
connStatus	A,B		
dn	<u>sys/chassis-1</u> 🔇 🔉		
fabricEpDn	fabric/server/chassis-1 🔇 义		
fltAggr	1		
fsmDescr			
fsmPrev	PowerCapSuccess		
fsmProgr	100		
fsmRmtInvErrCode	none		

The Managed Object Browser allows browsing the internal state of the Data Management Engine of Cisco UCSM. It is a tool useful when developing integration with Cisco UCSM using its XML API.

XML API Docs

All Packages	^	~
Classes		Cisco Systems
aaa:AuthMethod		UCSM Model Decomposite
aaa:AuthRealm		UCSIVI Model Documentation
aaa:Config		
aaa:ConsoleAuth		This document is the the starting point to explore the UCSM
aaa:DefaultAuth		Information Model.
aaa:Definition		
aaa:Domain		The Navigation frames on the left list:
aaa:DomainAuth		All Managed Objects
aaa:Ep		All Methods
aaa:EpAuthProfile		All Types
aaa:EpFsmTask		All Fault Rules
aaa:EpLogin		All FSM Rules
aaa:EpUser		
aaa:ExtivigmtCutInruIkn		Press a link to start navigating the model.
aaa.Ldap.Ep		
aaa.LdapGroup aaa:LdapGroupRule		Abstract Concrete Inheritance
aaa.LdapProvider		
aaa:Locale		
aaa Log		
aaa:ModLR		
aaa:Org		
aaa:Provider		
aaa:ProviderGroup 🗸		
Methods		
Types		
Events		
Faults		×
FSMs	~	< >

This section provides a complete XML API reference. The documentation is auto-generated from the most current UCSM Information Model.

API Schema and Samples

This link provides a way to download XML schema files (*.xsd) and sample XML requests. This information can be useful for XML API developers.

Hardware Inventory

Start-up Inventory



This section is the Hardware Designer of the UCS Platform Emulator. It allows visually creating and modifying the set of UCS hardware that the UCS Manager will discover once the virtual machine restarts.

Action Icons

The descriptions of the action icons located at the top of the page are as follows:

6, 🚽 🖿 🗟 🗲 📑 🗎

	Add new chassis. In the form that appears when you click the icon, please specify a chassis ID
9	and a unique name.
	Load a previously saved hardware configuration. Click on a name of a configuration file in order to load it. The loaded configuration will replace the configuration currently displayed. These configurations are kept inside the VM. Each configuration is accessible via its own URL, for example, the content of configuration named "SampleConfiguration" can be downloaded or displayed in the browser via
	Unload (import) bardware configuration from a file on the local disk. Click "Browse." to pick
	an XML file for uploading. The loaded configuration will replace the configuration currently displayed. Note that the "current" configuration can be displayed or downloaded from URL

	http://UCSPE-VM-IP/hardware/startup/export
<u>I</u> Ø	Import equipment from a live UCS system. In the form that appears, enter the management IP of a UCS system, along with admin username and password, then click "Load". This will replace the current equipment in the Hardware Designer with the exact set of equipment that comprises the live UCS system. <i>Note: as with all other "hardware load" functions, the emulation of the newly loaded equipment set will begin once Cisco UCSPE has been restarted.</i>
4	Restart UCSPE. This action is necessary if you would like to cause the emulated UCS Manager to discover the hardware configuration changes that you have just made in the Hardware Designer.
	Save hardware configuration. In the form that appears, enter a unique (not previously used) file name. After this, a file with this name will show in the "Load previously saved configuration" list – see above.
	Export configuration as XML file. Opens a new browser tab to display the XML of the hardware configuration that is currently displayed in Hardware Designer. If you would like to save this XML as a local file, please use the "Save as" menu of your browser.

Adding a New Server to Hardware Designer from the Catalog

At the bottom of the page you will find a tabbed catalog of supported UCS hardware components. Select the "Blade" tab to see a table of all available server types. Using your mouse, drag a server from the table onto a chassis, as shown below:

Startup Hardware Inventory



В	lades	CPU	DI	MM	HDD	I/O Adapter	s Far	IS PSU	J
	Item			Descrip	tion		Vendor	Part No	PID
	Cisco UCS Socket Bla	B200 M1 2 ade Server		2 Socket, DIMMs, 2 1 Mezz. S	, Single slot B SFF HDDs, Ir Slot	lade Server, 12 itel Xeon 5500 series,	Cisco Systems, Inc.	74-5390-01	N20-B6620-1
	Cisco UCS	B440 M1 4	4	4 Socket,	, Dual slot Bla Do Totol Yoor	de Server, 32 DIMMs, 7500 corios, 2 Mozz	Cisco Systems	N20 84740 2	N20 84740 2



When dragging the server, you will notice that the chassis box is highlighted by a thick black frame. Once the chassis of your choice is highlighted this way, you can "drop" the server onto it. In the form that appears, enter the slot number of the chassis where you would like to install the new server. It helps to open the "Servers" subtree of the chassis, to see which slots are already occupied. Hit <Enter> to complete the insertion, or <Esc> to abort it.

In a similar way, choose a CPU from the catalog at the bottom of the page and drag it over the chassis. In the form that appears, you will be asked to provide both the Server Slot number and the CPU socket number (e.g. for a 4-socket server, the range of numbers is 1..4). Similarly to adding a CPU, continue on to add DIMM(s), HDD(s) and I/O Adapter(s). You can also add chassis-specific components such as a chassis power supplies (PSU) and fans.

The following icons are located at the top of each chassis

- 😑 💿 ि 🍠 ी and allow you (left-to-right):
 - 1. Collapse all elements of the chassis view subtree
 - 2. Expand all elements of the chassis view subtree
 - 3. Make a clone of this chassis
 - 4. "Disconnect" this chassis: make it invisible to UCS Manager
 - 5. Remove this chassis

Using the Stash Area

The Stash area is similar to a "lab desk" where you would put a server blade, once you pull it out of a chassis. It allows you to manipulate a server blade (edit its contents) before inserting it back into the chassis. The Stash remembers the chassis and the slot from which the server came, and can

Stash (unused servers: 1)		
O O		
New Server		
drop new server blade here		
Server # 435		
N20-B6620-1 chassis 89 / slot 5 ම 🌍 🜍		
o CPU (2)		
DIMM (1)		
DIMM slot 1: 0x80CE : M393B5670EH1-CF8		

automatically reinsert it back, upon clicking the black "+" icon. If you would like to "copy" a server, drag it and drop over the "New Server" area of the Stash. You can also drag-n-drop a new server from the Catalog table. If you would like to reinsert a server from the Stash area into a different chassis or slot, simply drag it from the Stash area and drop onto the appropriate chassis.

Emulator Settings

a. Status Summary

This page displays a summary of all Cisco UCSPE settings.

b. Management IP

Use this form to change management IP settings of the Cisco UCSPE virtual machine. A second way to change these settings is via the VM console menu accessible under the login "config/config". The default is to use DHCP server for management IP address assignment.

c. High Availability

Choose whether UCSPE will emulate a non-HA, single-Fabric-Interconnect system, or a dual-Fabric-Interconnect, HA system. This setting does not take effect until Cisco UCSPE is restarted.

d. Database Persistence

Choose whether Cisco UCSPE should preserve the UCS Manager database between restarts of the emulator (UCSPE) and/or between virtual machine reboots.

e. Startup Config URL

Choose the URL of the hardware configuration file. This hardware configuration will be emulated by Cisco UCSPE on the next restart. By default, the configuration that is currently displaying in Hardware Designer will be used (the "Local Inventory" option).

One possible advanced use of this feature is for organizations running multiple Cisco UCSPE virtual machines. In this case, one can store the configuration in a "master" UCSPE virtual machine, and have all other UCSPE virtual machines configured to point their Startup Config URL to the master.

f. Fabric Interconnect

Choose the number of uplinks between a chassis and the Fabric Interconnect.

g. NTP Synchronization

Enter the IP address of the NTP server available in your network. If the virtual machine is going to have world-wide-web connectivity, the standard NTP server pool.ntp.org can be used instead. A proper NTP configuration is necessary if you require that time stamps reported by Cisco UCS Manager (for example, in Event Log or Fault history) be correct.

Restart

a. Restart Cisco UCSPE

Restart the UCSPE services (without rebooting the virtual machine).

b. Reboot the virtual machine

Reboot the OS of the virtual machine.

c. Shutdown the virtual machine

Shutdown the OS of the virtual machine.

d. Reset the UCSM database

Remove the current Cisco UCS Manager database and restart all UCSPE services. This type of restart is required for reinitializing hardware configuration.

e. Factory Reset

Reinstall the UCSPE. Performs a complete reinstallation of UCSPE software within the virtual machine, an action similar to the one performed during the very first boot of the virtual machine.

Customer Support and User Community

The Cisco Developer Network includes a section dedicated to Cisco UCS Manager. The section is located at http://developer.cisco.com/web/unifiedcomputing

Issues and requests relating to the UCS Platform Emulator and UCS XML API can be posted to UCS Manager forum at http://developer.cisco.com/web/unifiedcomputing/forums. The forums are periodically monitored by Cisco developers and support personnel. However, please note that this is the only level of support available for UCSPE users, and there are no response-time guarantees.

Release Notes

Release Version

Version 1.4 of Cisco Unified Computing System (UCS)

Version 1.4 of the Cisco UCS Platform Emulator (UCSPE).

The Cisco UCS Platform Emulator Virtual Machine can be executed in:

- VMware Player or Workstation on Windows XP;
- VMware Fusion on Mac OS X;
- VMware ESXi hypervisor.

Form of Delivery

The Cisco UCS Platform Emulator is distributed as a VMware virtual machine appliance. It can be downloaded from the Cisco website. For more information, contact your sales representative.

System Requirements

The minimum system requirements are:

- 1 GB free RAM
- 8 GB disk space (plus an additional 2.2 GB during the unzip)
- 1.8 GHz single CPU

Limitations

Cisco UCSPE is an emulated environment that recreates interactions between hardware and firmware components of UCS and its management software. The emulated environment makes it possible for the

management software to operate without any real hardware. This approach has the inherent limitations outlined below.

Inherent Limitations of the Cisco UCS Emulated Environment

No Data Path

Cisco UCSPE only emulates whatever is necessary for the management plane to function. Specifically, it does not emulate network data flow.

• No Cut-Through Interfaces to Equipment (such as IPMI)

Servers in the real Cisco UCS system contain board management controllers (BMCs), each of which supports an IPMI interface. Switch components of UCS support an SNMP interface. Because both switch and BMC are considered "endpoints" of the UCS management system, these interfaces are, in fact, cut-through interfaces that bypass the central management system. These cannot be supported in the emulated environment.

• No SSH / FTP/ telnet

Similarly to SNMP and IPMI interfaces, SSH, FTP, and telnet, access (through user-facing or management-plane-facing Ethernet interfaces) is unavailable because it also bypasses the management software and is considered cut-through access.

• No KVM (keyboard/video/mouse)

KVM is also a cut-through interface and therefore is not supported. And as there are no real servers attached to the emulation system, there are no ports to which KVM could connect.

- Limited High-Availability Failover Emulation
- Although UCSPE can run in high-availability mode, it runs both sets of UCS management processes on a single OS. Consequently, it supports only one failover scenario: when one of the two management processes in the HA pair dies. Scenarios pertaining to link loss between cluster members, loss of EEPROM readability, and others, are not supported.

Limitations the of the Current UCSPE Release

No AAA/Security Backend Emulation

In emulation mode, the UCS Manager accepts security configuration changes, but does not enforce any security. Specifically, any username and password combination can successfully login to the management GUI, and all such logins have the "administrator" role.

Known Issues

Locator LED

Locator LED is not fully emulated. The LED state defaults to "on" on all chassis, and to "off" on all servers. The states cannot be changed from the GUI.

Internet Explorer Support

Two sections of the UCSPE Control Panel UI, "Model Object Browser" and "Start-up Inventory" do not work with Microsoft Internet Explorer and require a Mozilla-compatible browser such as Mozilla Firefox™ or Google Chrome™. The rest of the Control Panel UI works with Internet Explorer of versions 8.0 and higher.

VMPlayer's "Preserve Physical Connection State" checkbox

This checkbox exists in the latest versions of VMPlayer's Network Settings dialog box, next to the "Bridged" mode selector. When bridged mode is selected, this checkbox should NOT be checked, otherwise DHCP address assignment is known to require two restarts of networking services within the emulator VM.

"Save as" XML Export in Chrome Browser

The Startup Hardware Configuration UI allows to save the XML-formatted hardware configuration to a local computer (the client computer that is running the browser). This is done by clicking the Export Configuration to XML File icon, and then using the browser's "Save as..." function to save the displayed XML text to a local file. However, users of Chrome browser must pick ".txt" extension when saving the file. If any other extension is chosen (including ".xml"), Chrome will add unnecessary HTML tags into the saved file, producing incorrect XML format.

Requests Timing Out

The Emulator VM is scalability-tested to remain stable through hours or days of uptime, and sustain multiple millions of XML queries. However, if the VM stops responding to XML requests due to an unforeseen issue, it should be rebooted. Reboot can also be done programmatically via an HTTP POST request to <u>http://VM IP/settings/restart/vmreboot</u> with the POST body containing "confirm=yes".

Firmware Versions of Hardware Imported from Live UCS

When hardware is imported, the versions of firmware will be set to the current (1.4) version level, regardless of the version levels existing in the source UCS.

Catalog Info for Chassis PSU and Fan and Server DIMMs

When the Emulator is populated with 10 or more chassis, the UCS GUI may not always display the catalog part info (i.e. the textual description of the hardware part) for some of the PSUs and Fans in some of the chassis, randomly. Additionally, the UCS GUI will not show part info for certain types of DIMMs.

FEX and Rack-Mount Server Data is Static

In this release, the servers and FEX devices displayed in the UCS GUI are not fully emulated. They are statically pre-configured upon Emulator start-up for demo purposes. In addition, there will be critical and major faults created against these devices, resulting in the devices signaled with red frames and icons in the GUI. This is expected behavior. The full emulation of rack-mounted servers will be available in future releases of the Emulator.



Americas Headquarters Cisco Systems, Inc. San Jose, CA Asia Pacific Headquarters Cisco Systems (USA) Pte. Ltd. Singapore Europe Headquarters Cisco Systems International BV Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Cisco has more than 200 offices worldwide. Addresses, phone numbers, and fax numbers are listed on the Cisco Website at www.cisco.com/go/offices.

Cisco and the Cisco Logo are trademarks of Cisco Systems, Inc. and/or its affiliates in the U.S. and other countries. A listing of Cisco's trademarks can be found at www.cisco.com/go/trademarks. Third party trademarks mentioned are the property of their respective owners. The use of the word partner does not imply a partnership relationship between Cisco and any other company. (1005R)

Printed in USA

Document number: UCS-TR100029 08/10